
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 24 January 2023.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Community 
Governance 
Review Working 
Group 

 

     
 

 

Wednesday, 1 February 2023 at 2.30 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor Louise Clack (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor John Cottier, Councillor Nikki Manterfield, Councillor Annie Mason, 
Councillor Charmaine Morgan, Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley, Councillor Ian Selby, 
Councillor Lee Steptoe, Councillor Adam Stokes, Councillor Dean Ward, Councillor 
Hilary Westropp, Councillor Mark Whittington, Councillor Mary Whittington and 
Councillor Ray Wootten 
 

Agenda 
 

  This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the SKDC 
Public-I Channel 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of Interests 
 

 

4.   Notes from the meeting held on 12 July 2022 
 

(Pages 3 - 6) 

5.   Community Governance Review - Consultation results with Parishes 
To report the outcome of the additional consultation exercise undertaken and 
consider the submission of a recommendation to Full Council.  

(Pages 7 - 35) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Meeting of the 
Community Governance 
Review Working Group 
 
Tuesday, 12 July 2022, 10.00 am 

 

 

 
 

Committee Members present 
 
Councillor Louise Clack (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley 
Councillor Adam Stokes 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
Councillor Mark Whittington 

 

 
 
Officers  
 
Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer, Graham Watts 
Electoral Services Manager, Julie Edwards 
Consultation and Engagement Officer, Deb Wyles 
Democratic Officer, Lucy Bonshor  
  
 

 
32. Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence have been received from Councillors Manterfield, Jacky 
Smith, Steptoe and Ray Wootten. 

 
33. Disclosure of Interests 

 
Councillor Whittington declared that he was a Member of Barrowby Parish Council. 

 
34. Notes from the meeting held on 29 April 2022 

 
The notes from the meeting held on 29 April 2022 were proposed, seconded and 
AGREED. 

 
35. Community Governance Review for Grantham 

 
The Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer presented the 
report which asked the Working Group to confirm the scope for the next stage of 

3

Agenda Item 4



 

the consultation in respect of the proposed boundary for Grantham Town Council.  
The Full Council meeting held on 26 May 2022 agreed in principle to establish a 
Parish Council for Grantham, subject to further consultation being undertaken with 
residents of neighbouring parishes and Parish Councils in respect of the boundary 
for the Parish. 

 
The outcome of the first consultation did not give a clear direction of where the 
boundary for the new Town Council should be located, further consultation needed 
to take place with Parish Council’s and residents to seek their views on where the 
boundary should be located and it was for the Working Group to confirm the scope 
of the consultation.  
 
One Member stated that consultation should take place with all residents on the 
boundary of the unparished area of Grantham to seek residents’ views and 
consultation should continue with residents as new houses were built.  The Member 
felt it was for residents to decide where they felt the boundary of the Town Council 
should be located, not the Working Group or Council and they needed to be fully 
informed as to the consequences of any decision made. 
 
Another Member made reference to the proposed Southern Quadrant application 
which would be a large area once built, would this be included within the Grantham 
Town Council boundary as once built residents in that area would be using the 
services within the Town.   
 
It was stated that when the Southern Quadrant area of the town was built it was 
likely that this would be subject to a separate Community Governance Review and 
would become a separate parish in its own right. 
 
Discussion on Parish Council involvement followed, particularly in respect of 
Barrowby Parish Council and it was stated that any proposed extension of the 
Grantham town boundary into other parishes needed to be consulted on, but the 
Member felt that he couldn’t support any boundary extension in to Barrowby Parish.   
 
The Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer referred the 
Working Group to the recommendation on page 6 of the agenda.  It was for the 
Working Group to agree a scope for the next round of consultation and who would 
be consulted. 

 
Reference was made to Appendix 1 and the map which showed the unparished 
area of Grantham together with three hatched areas, that although fell within the 
Grantham boundary, were part of separate parishes.  It was stated that the three 
parishes together with those residents who lived within the hatched areas needed 
to be consulted with, which amounted to 378 dwellings. 
 
Further discussion followed in respect of parish boundaries, particularly Barrowby 
and issues around precepts, finance and identity.  It was felt that some areas had 
clear demarcations of where the boundary should be.    

 

4



 

The time scale for the consultation was raised and it was proposed that the 
consultation should take place during October/November 2022. The responses 
from the consultation could then be collated and would help to inform the Working 
Group of where the boundary for Grantham Town Council should be.  It was noted 
that the Boundary Commission had set the current District Ward boundaries.  To 
enable the necessary consultations to take place, it was suggested that the 
timescale for when Grantham Town Council would take effect would be towards the 
end of 2023 with elections happening in May 2024, this would give three years for 
the Town Council to be established before the next elections in 2027.  It was felt 
that 2025 would be too late to hold elections.  
 
The scope of who should be consulted was discussed and it was proposed that 
houses which had not been built would not be part of the scope for this 
consultation.  Those dwellings within the hatched areas on Appendix 1 and the 
associated parishes would form the scope of the consultation.  
 
A comment was made about those houses that weren’t yet built, particularly the 
Southern Quadrant area and which parish they would be part of.  It was stated that 
they would be subject to a separate Community Governance Review which would 
be implemented through either the receipt of a community petition from the 
residents in that area or through the District Council, it would not be through the 
Grantham Town Council. 
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED not to include those houses which had 
not yet been built in the scope of the consultation. 
 
Decision 
 
That those houses not yet built particularly in the Southern Quadrant area 
and outside the unparished area of Grantham were not part of the scope for 
this consultation. 
 
Further discussion followed on the developments taking place as shown on 
Appendix 2.  Planning applications S14/3571 and S14/2935 were discussed and it 
was stated that some of the dwellings had been built but they were not occupied, 
some were occupied and some were not built. These developments fell within 
Barrowby Parish and Belvoir Ward and were outside of the unparished area of 
Grantham. 

 
It was recommended that until the majority were completed and occupied, the 
dwellings that fell in these two areas would be consulted, but at a later date.  
 
Reference was made to S14/3260 which was located to the north of the unparished 
area of Grantham.  Planning Permission had been granted for the site but no 
construction had started and it was suggested that this area was taken off the list 
for consultation. 

 

5



 

S08/1231 was located within the unparished area of Grantham and 673 had been 
completed to date.   
 
Scope of consultation  
 
It was proposed and agreed that the scope of the consultation should include the 
areas hatched on Appendix 1 (Map A) 378 dwellings and the 673 listed in respect of 
Appendix 2 (Map B) 673 plus consultation should take place with the Ward and 
County Councillors for the areas as well as the relevant Parish Councils.  Each 
dwelling should be sent a prepaid envelope to respond to the consultation and face-
to-face events should take place where possible in the areas or near to the hatched 
areas on Appendix 1.  
 
It was confirmed that there was enough budget to accommodate the proposal. 
 
A question was asked about where the new Town Council would meet and it was 
stated that this was not part of the Community Governance Review, it was an 
operational detail and it was for the Town Council to decide once it had been 
established. 
 
Meeting closed at 11:04. 

 
 

6



 
 

       

Community 
Governance Review 
Working Group  
 

1 February 2023 
 
Report by Councillor Linda Wootten, 
Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Governance and Licensing  
 

 

 

Community Governance Review for Grantham  
 

Report Author 

Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

  Graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

To report the outcome of the additional consultation exercise undertaken and consider 

the submission of a recommendation to Full Council.  

 

Recommendations 

 

That the Community Governance Review Working Group: 

1. Notes the responses of the additional consultation process. 

2. Recommends to Full Council that South Kesteven District Council 
progresses with a formal proposal to establish a Parish Council for 
Grantham based upon the following principles and commences with the 
second stage of formal consultation: 

• That the boundary for the new Parish Council for Grantham 
replicates the existing unparished area of Grantham 

• That the warding arrangements for the new Parish Council for 
Grantham replicate existing District Council Wards 

7

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


3. Considers and recommends to Full Council the size of the new Parish 
Council for Grantham in terms of the number of Councillors. 

4. Agrees the revised timetable for the Community Governance Review.  

 

Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Healthy and strong communities 

 

Which wards are impacted? All wards within and adjoining the unparished area of 
Grantham  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 A budget of £20,000 was approved as part of the 2022/23 budget setting to 

facilitate the Community Governance Review. Approximately £14,600 of this 

budget has been spent on the comprehensive consultation already undertaken. 

The remainder of this budget will need to support the final stage of formal 

consultation required as part of the Community Governance Review process. 

 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 The Community Governance Review is being conducted in accordance with the 

provisions of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

(the 2007 Act) and statutory guidance issued in 2010 by the Secretary of State for 

Communities and Local Government and the Local Government Boundary 

Commission for England. 

 

1.3 Section 93 of the 2007 Act requires Councils to ensure that community 

governance within the area under review will be reflective of the identities and 

interests of the community in the area and be effective and convenient.   

 

8



1.4 Where a review is conducted as a result of a community governance application 

or petition, section 93(8) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007 requires the review to be completed within 12 months. This 

requirement does not however apply where a Council has taken the decision to 

undertake a review. 

 

Completed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring 

Officer  

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1 Full Council, at its meeting on 26 May 2022, agreed in principle to the 

establishment of a Parish Council for Grantham, subject to undertaking further 

consultation with residents of neighbouring parishes and Parish Councils to 

consider its boundary. 

 

2.2 The Community Governance Review Working Group met on 12 July 2022 and 

considered the further consultation necessary to contribute to the review. It 

agreed that further consultation should take place with those residents in the 

following parishes whose properties, through an anomaly as a result of a 

previous boundary review, are also located within the boundary of an existing 

Grantham District Council Ward: 
 

• Belton and Manthorpe 

• Great Gonerby 

• Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without 

 

2.3 The map at Appendix 1 highlights these particular areas. 

 

2.4 The Working Group confirmed that the purpose of this additional consultation 

exercise was to seek views from those directly affected as to where a boundary 

for a potential Parish Council for Grantham should sit in the context of the 

existing unparished area and the location of the District Ward boundary.  

 

2.5  The Working Group also agreed to consult with the three affected Parish Councils 

 to ascertain their views as to where a boundary for a potential Parish Council for 

 Grantham should sit with regard to their respective parishes.  

 

2.6  A question and answer event was held for representatives of the three Parish 

 Councils on 18 October 2022 further to which each Parish Council was asked to 

 formally consider and provide a response in respect of the location of the 

 boundary.  

 

2.7  There were delays in the launch of the consultation and the ability for Parish 

 Councils to consider this matter at public meetings due to the pre-election periods 

 associated with District Council by-elections for seats in the Grantham area. 

9



2.8  It should be noted that South Kesteven District Council only has the power to 

 establish a new body as a Parish Council. Should the District Council agree to 

 establish a new Parish Council for Grantham it would be the Parish Council 

 which would need to decide whether or not to designate itself as a Town Council. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

Consultation with residents 

 

3.1 The additional consultation with residents was targeted solely at those residents 

who live in the residential areas of Belton and Manthorpe, Great Gonerby and 

Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without whose properties are located in the areas 

highlighted in Appendix 1 where they are both in the respective parish but also 

within a Grantham District Council Ward. 

 

3.2 Letters with a copy of the consultation document were hand delivered to all 

properties within the three areas affected on 28 November 2022. Three separate 

consultation documents were used, one for each area, and an example of this is  

attached at Appendix 2. An online version was also available for those residents to 

access. 

 

3.3 The letters invited residents to two drop in sessions held between 2pm and 7pm 

as follows where they had an opportunity to ask questions and seek points of 

clarification on the process and question being asked prior to responding to the 

consultation document: 

 

7 December – St John’s Church Hall, Manthorpe  

8 December – Witham Place Communal Room, Grantham  

 

3.4 A summary of the responses to each of the three consultation documents are set 

out in Appendices 3 and 4. 

 

3.5 It is clear from the responses to the three consultation documents that the majority 

of respondents would prefer the boundary for a potential Parish Council for 

Grantham to retain the existing boundary of the unparished area of Grantham. 

 

 Consultation with Parish Councils 

  

3.6 Further to the question and answer event held on 18 October 2022 for 

representatives of the three Parish Councils, the following responses have been 

received: 

 

 Belton and Manthorpe Parish Council 

  

 The following summary of comments from Parish Councillors were received from 

the Parish Clerk via email: 

10



“There are 111 properties on the Manthorpe Estate that could go into a Grantham 
Town/Parish Council. If that does happen they will have their Council Tax greatly 
increased, as a precept for the Grantham Parish/Town Council will be a lot higher 
than they currently pay. That will also mean that the remaining properties in the 
Belton and Manthorpe Parish Council will also have to pay a higher Council Tax, 
as the Belton and Manthorpe Precept will be divided amongst fewer properties. 

 
In the financial situation nationally we find ourselves in, and the cost of living 
crisis, the Parish Council believes that this is completely inappropriate to increase 
resident Council Tax, without any formal consultation or information given to the 
residents.  

 
The 111 properties at present are able to use the Manthorpe Burial Ground at a 
reduced rate. If they are not part of the Belton and Manthorpe Parish Council area 
they will not be able to ‘claim’ the reduced rate. We believe that some residents 
have specifically moved to the area in question specifically to be able to use the 
Burial Ground.” 

 

 Great Gonerby Parish Council 

 

 The following comments were received from the Parish Clerk via email: 

“The Parish Council can see the practical and logistical benefits of transferring the 

properties off Pennine Way to the proposed town council, however we would 

respect the views of those affected and surveyed. 

The Parish would also need sufficient notice to review our precept requirements 

due to the reduced income.” 

 

 Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without Parish Council 

 

A copy of a letter received from the Parish Clerk is attached at Appendix 5. 

 

3.7 Taking into account the consultation responses from residents and the comments 

from Parish Councils, it is recommended that any boundary for a new Parish 

Council for Grantham reflects the boundary of the current unparished area of 

Grantham, maintaining the existing boundaries of those parishes on the periphery 

of the town of Grantham.  

 

 Number of Parish Councillors 

 

3.8 The Local Government Act 1972, as amended, specifies that each Parish Council 

must have at least five Councillors. There is no maximum number. 

 

3.9 Although there are no prescribed rules relating to the allocation of Councillors, the 

Department for Communities and Local Government guidance and reports of 

research by Aston Business School state that, typically, Parish Councils have the 

following number of Councillors based on the number of electors within the parish: 

11



• Less than 500 electors – between 5 and 8 Councillors 

• Between 501 and 2,500 electors – between 6 and 12 Councillors 

• Between 2,501 and 10,000 electors – between 9 and 16 Councillors 

• Between 10,001 and 20,000 electors – between 13 and 27 Councillors 

• Over 20,000 electors – between 13 and 31 Councillors  

 

3.10 Guidance published by the National Association of Local Councils suggests the 

number of Parish Councillors be allocated depending on the size of the population 

represented and that the practical maximum should be 25 Councillors for an area 

with over 23,000 electors.  

 

Warding arrangements 

 

3.11 The Working Group has previously agreed, in principle, that wards for a new 

Parish Council for Grantham should replicate the District Council Wards already in 

place.  

 

3.12 Based upon the guidance of the National Association of Local Councils, as set out 

in paragraph 3.12, a warding arrangements option for a Town Council with 25 

Councillors, based upon the current unparished area of Grantham, is set out 

below. This provides an average of 1,132 electors per Parish Councillor. 

  

Ward Current electorate 

(January 2023) 

Number of Councillors 

Arnoldfield 4,041 4 

Barrowby Gate 3,856 3 

Earlesfield 4,001 4 

Harrowby 3,653 3 

Springfield 3,925 3 

St Vincent’s 4,979 5 

St Wulfram’s 3,850 3 

  25 

 

3.13 The Community Governance Working Group is invited to consider the warding 

arrangements and number of Councillors associated with a new Parish Council for 

Grantham and make a recommendation to Full Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12



 Revised timetable for the Community Governance Review 

 

3.14 Subject to the Community Governance Review Working Group making a 

recommendation to Full Council that it progresses with a formal proposal to 

establish a Parish Council for Grantham, it is proposed that the following timetable 

also be recommended for approval: 

 

 Draft recommendations to Full Council for approval – 1 March 2023 

 Publication of draft proposals – March 2023 

 Consultation (Stage 2) on draft proposals – May 2023 (six weeks) 

 Consideration of stage two representations by Working Group – July/August 2023 

 Recommendation to Full Council – September 2023 

 

 If there is not positive support for the creation of a Parish Council following the 

stage 2 consultation process: 

 

 Recommendation to Full Council to end the process – September 2023 

 

 If there is positive support for the creation of a Parish Council following the stage 2 

consultation process: 

 

 Final recommendations to Full Council for approval – September 2023 

 Order made by Council (if required) – September 2023 

Elections to Grantham Parish Council – May 2024 

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 To consider recommending a different boundary for a potential Parish Council for 

Grantham. 

 

4.2 To consider alternative warding arrangements for a potential Parish Council for 

Grantham. 

 

4.3 To consider an alternative number of Councillors for a potential Parish Council for 

Grantham. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 The recommendations take into account the responses received from the first 

comprehensive consultation process and the additional consultation undertaken 

with residents and Parish Councils. 

 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 As set out in the body of the report. 

 

13



7. Background Papers 
 

7.1 Report to Full Council – 26 May 2022 

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=4

131&Ver=4 

 

8. Appendices 
 

8.1  Appendix 1 – Map of the existing unparished Grantham area boundary with 

 neighbouring parishes 

 

8.2 Appendix 2 – Example of consultation document 

 

8.3 Appendix 3 – Report on consultation responses from residents  

 

8.4 Appendix 4 – Free text comments from residents 

 

8.5 Appendix 5 – Letter from Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without Parish Clerk 

 

 

 

14

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=4131&Ver=4
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=4131&Ver=4


15

A
ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



November 2022
Londonthorpe & Harrowby 
Without Parish

Community  
Governance  
Review
Consultation

17

Appendix 2



2

Introduction
South Kesteven District Council understands how important it is for people to feel that they belong to 
an established community. A central part of any community governance review process is to ensure 
community identity is recognised and that those taking part are given the chance to express any 
thoughts they may have on this issue. 

We are contacting you because we want to find out if you think you have more in common with the 
town of Grantham or Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without parish. You may not have an opinion either 
way. Your feedback will help us to determine where the boundary for a new town/ parish council for 
Grantham should lie. 

This is an important part of the process and will build on the results of the consultation undertaken 
earlier this year, which showed strong support for the creation of a new town/parish council for 
Grantham. Two thirds of respondents (974 or 66.2%) were in favour. 

We welcome your comments. Please spare us a few moments to tell us what you think. 
Thank you.

Please note this consultation closes on 19 December 2022.

Why are you asking me about this now?
Because it is the right time to consider this issue. At a meeting of full council on 26 May 2022, South 
Kesteven District Council agreed in principle that a new parish/town council should be created to 
represent Grantham. Part of this process will involve determining where the boundaries of the new 
parish/town council should be drawn, and if changes should be made to realign parish boundaries in 
line with ward boundaries. Your property is in an area identified by the Boundary Commission in 2015 
as being included in one of Grantham’s district wards - represented by Grantham District Councillors - 
but also within the parish of Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without.

How will my feedback help?
Your feedback will be considered by SKDC’s Community Governance Review Working Group and 
will inform the recommendation they make to South Kesteven District Council. The Council will then 
determine a proposed administrative external boundary for the new parish/town council of Grantham. A 
further consultation on this formal proposal will then be undertaken. 

Who has been contacted?
This survey has only been sent to a small number of households in the parish of Londonthorpe & 
Harrowby Without. That is because your property is located within the Grantham district ward of St 
Vincents but is also in the parish of Londonthorpe & Harrowby without.
Those living in properties in the rest of the parish of Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without have not been 
contacted.

What would this mean for my household? 
It depends on what decision is taken. 
If the Council decides that the boundary that currently exists between the parish of Londonthorpe 
& Harrowby Without and Grantham should be re-drawn, your household would no longer be part of 
Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without parish for administrative purposes. It would become part of the new 
parish/town council of Grantham instead.

18



This would mean you would be able to vote to determine who represents Grantham on the new 
parish/town council. You would no longer have a say in who represents the parish of Londonthorpe & 
Harrowby Without as your household would no longer be part of that parish for administrative purposes. 
Your household would no longer pay a precept to Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without Parish Council but 
would instead pay a contribution towards the new parish/town council of Grantham.

If the Council decides that the boundary that currently exists between the parish of Londonthorpe 
& Harrowby Without and Grantham should remain as it is now, your household will remain part of 
Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without parish for administrative purposes. You would continue to pay a 
precept to Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without Parish Council and could vote for those parish councillors 
to represent you. You would not however have a say in determining who represents Grantham on the 
new town/parish council.

What would this mean for Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without 
Parish Council? 
It depends on the decision. 
If the decision is taken to change the boundary between Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without parish and 
the new town/parish council and include the households identified by the Boundary Commission, the 
parish of Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without will have 189 fewer properties.   

If, however, the decision is to keep the boundary where it is, there will be no reduction in the number of 
properties or electors.

Your choice
Please tell us which of the following options you would prefer. Please tick one only
My household:

 Would prefer to remain part of the parish of Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without. I understand 
 this means my household would not become part of the parish/town council of Grantham and  
 would continue to be part of Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without parish.

 Would prefer to join the new parish/town council of Grantham. I understand this means my  
 household would no longer be part of the parish of Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without.

 Does not have an opinion either way.

Anything else
If you have any questions or would like to comment on anything included in this survey, please use the 
space below to tell us about it:

3
19



For a response to your comment or question, or to be informed about this part of the consultation, 
please supply your contact details. They will only be used to contact you in relation to this review 
and will not be used for any other purpose or passed onto anyone else. 

Name

Address

Address 2

Village/Town

Postcode

Email

About you

To help make sure we have taken the views of all our stakeholders into account, we would like to 
know a bit more about you. Any information you give us will only be used to measure if the views 
we have collected are representative of the communities we serve. It will not be used to identify you 
in any way. 

Please tell us your postcode. This will help us check that we have received responses from the 
areas that will be affected by any changes that may be introduced. 

Thank you for responding.

THIS CONSULTATION CLOSES ON 19 DECEMBER 2022

03
65

6R
T_

11
.2

2

20



 

     

  

 

Community Governance Review Consultation 
November/December 2022 

Consultation with Parishes 

21

Appendix 3



 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 

 

Table of Contents 

 Page 

Purpose and Scope 2 

Objectives 3 

Methodology 4 

Details 5 

Results 7 

Conclusion 10 

  

22



 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Purpose 

 

1. The purpose of this report is to update members of South Kesteven District Council’s Community 

Governance Review Working Group (CGRWG) and Council with the results of an additional 

consultation exercise in respect of the Community Governance Review for Grantham.   

 

2. This consultation was undertaken to establish the views of specific stakeholders in parish areas 

identified by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England ’s (LGBCE) review in 2015 as 

being areas included within the boundary of a parish; but part of a continuous estate predominantly 

situated in the unparished area of Grantham. Feedback from this consultation exercise will inform 

the recommendations that will be made by the Community Governance Review Working Group and 

assist the decisions SKDC will take in respect of arrangements for a potential parish/town council for 

Grantham. In particular, the results of this consultation will inform decisions regarding the setting of 

the administrative external boundary for Grantham for three of the parishes directly adjacent to the 

town – Belton & Manthorpe, Great Gonerby and Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without. 

 

Scope 

3. The scope of work for this consultation was determined by the Community Governance Review 

Working Group (CGRWG) at its meeting on 12 July 20221. The Working Group resolved to focus on 

the areas adjacent to the unparished area identified by the Boundary Commission in 2015 (as 

identified in Map A during the first stage of the review), and not the areas where planning 

permission has been given, or land is allocated for development (as illustrated in Map B during the 

first stage of the consultation).  

 

4. This meant further engagement was not undertaken with those living in the parishes of Barrowby, 

Harlaxton or Little Ponton & Stroxton. There were no areas where planning permission has been 

given or land allocated for development in either Harlaxton or Little Ponton & Stroxton. There were 

areas allocated for development and areas where permission has been granted in Barrowby, but the 

CGRWG was not convinced occupation of these areas was at a significant enough level currently to 

be able to conduct meaningful consultation with those living in these areas. 

 

5. Further engagement did however take place with households located in three areas within three 

parishes - Belton & Manthorpe, Great Gonerby and Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without. All have a 

boundary with the currently unparished area of Grantham town and following the 2015 review 

became part of district wards within Grantham. However, because parish boundaries are not within 

the remit of the LGBCE these areas were retained within each of the respective parishes for 

administrative purposes.     

 
1 (Public Pack)Agenda Document for Community Governance Review Working Group, 12/07/2022 10:00 

23

http://moderngovsvr/documents/g4391/Public%20reports%20pack%2012th-Jul-2022%2010.00%20Community%20Governance%20Review%20Working%20Group.pdf?T=10


 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

6. Representatives from each of the parish councils in these areas were contacted and asked for their 

views. They were also invited to a Q and A session. Their feedback is included in the covering report 

prepared by the Council’s Assistant Director of Governance. 

 

Objectives  

7. This is an additional phase of consultation in respect of the formation of a parish/town council for 

Grantham. The objectives of the consultation were to:  

• Ensure those who may be affected by the introduction of a parish/town council for the 

unparished area of Grantham and who live in one of the parish areas adjacent, and are within 

one of the Grantham District Wards, are aware of the community governance review and are 

given the opportunity to participate. This included both the households in these areas and also 

the parish councils where these properties are situated.  

• Communicate the support received for the proposal to create a parish/town council for 

Grantham during the first phase of consultation 

• Detail the choices that those living in each of the three affected parishes have 

• Outline the changes that will happen as a result of this decision, and the choices that exist with 

respect to each of the three parish boundaries (which could be different for each of the 

parishes)  

• Ensure that the views from each of the respective stakeholder groups is reflected in any 

recommendations that are made 

• Enable respondents to ask questions/seek clarification on any of the issues raised in the 

consultation 

  

Timescales 

8. Preparatory work for this additional stage of consultation was undertaken during the months of 
September and October. Parish Council representatives from the three areas – Belton & Manthorpe, 
Great Gonerby and Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without – were invited to attend a Q and A session 
on 18 October and informed of the working group’s intention to consult with some of the 
households in their parish areas during November and December 2022. The survey sent to 
households during the second stage of the consultation was open for three weeks – from 28 
November till the 19 December 2022. Two drop-in sessions were also held during the consultation 
window at convenient locations on the 7 and 8 December.  

 

9. The results of this consultation will be considered by the CGRWG at its meeting on 18 January 2023.  
Any draft recommendations they make will then be submitted to Full Council for approval in 2023.  

 

Stakeholders 

 

10. The stakeholders were identified as follows: 

24



 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

• Residents in three of the parished areas adjacent to the unparished area of Grantham. These 
are Belton and Manthorpe, Great Gonerby, and Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without.  
Residents in the parishes of Barrowby, Harlaxton, Little Ponton & Stroxton were not 
included. 

• Parish Councils with the areas included within a Grantham district ward by the LGBCE review 
in 2015 neighbouring the Grantham unparished area. These are Belton and Manthorpe, 
Great Gonerby, and Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without. 

 

Methodology 

 

11. Different methods of engagement were used for the two types of stakeholders. The table below 

identifies the method(s) used for each: 

 

Stakeholders Method(s) Details 

Householders 
in three of the 
parish areas 
adjacent to 
the area 
under review 
(identified 
and included 
in a Grantham 
Town District 
Ward by the 
LGBCE in 
2015). 

Dedicated page on SKDC ‘s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk/Grantham 
CGR 

 

  

 

Direct mail to all affected households 

 

 

Two drop-in sessions held during the 
consultation window. 

 

 

Page dedicated to the consultation went live on 
23 November 2022. Contained information about 
the purpose of the consultation as well as maps 
showing in detail the areas identified as being an 
anomaly by the LGBCE. 
 
 
Copies of letter, survey and pre-paid envelope 
hand-delivered to 378 households by members 
of Democratic Services on Monday 28 November.   
 
Drop-in sessions at the Community Room at St 
Johns Church, Manthorpe on 7 December from 
2pm till 7pm and the Communal Room at 
Witham Place Sheltered Housing Complex on 8 
December from 2pm till 7pm. 

Parish 
Councils with 
households in 
areas 
identified and 
included in a 
Grantham 
Town District 
Ward by the 
LGBCE in 2015 

Q and A session  

 

 

 

 

Email 

Parish Council representatives invited to a Q and 
A session on 18 October 2022. Informed of the 
CGRWG’s intention to consult with households in 
areas identified as an anomaly by the LGBCE’s 
review. 

 

Email sent to the three parish councils to inform 
them that the consultation was commencing on 
28 November. Parishes contacted were Belton 
and Manthorpe, Great Gonerby and 
Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without. 

 

 

 

 

25

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

Details  

12. Following the decision taken by South Kesteven District Council on 26 May 2022 to agree, in principle, 

to the creation of a parish or town council for Grantham, the Community Governance Review Working 

Group was tasked with establishing if those living in properties in specific areas of three of the adjacent 

parishes (identified as an anomaly by the Boundary Commission and included in a Grantham District 

Ward) had a preference as to where their household should sit for administrative purposes.  The 

working group instructed the Assistant Director of Governance, along with the Electoral Services 

Manager and the Council’s Consultation Officer to consult 378 households, located in parts of Belton 

& Manthorpe parish, Great Gonerby and Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without parish. Actions 

undertaken included: 

a. Preparation and printing of a letter and survey outlining the reasons for the consultation. 

b. Updating the webpage for the Community Governance Review for Grantham. This 

information included maps showing the areas identified as anomalies by the Boundary 

Commission in 2015 

c. Preparing, designing and setting up the on- line survey 

d. Inputting and analysing feedback from 85 respondents 

e. Preparing a report 

 

13. The letter was hand-delivered to all households in the identified areas in three of the six parishes 

adjacent to the currently unparished area of Grantham. It outlined the purpose of the consultation 

and contained instructions on how households could participate – including a weblink and QR code to 

access the survey on-line, should they wish to. Potential participants were also given a printed copy 

of the survey and a pre-paid envelope to return the survey in the post if preferred.  

 

14. The web page included the following: 

a. An introduction 

b. Context about the Community Governance Review – what it is, why it is being undertaken and 

what stage of the process has been reached 

c. Timescale of the process and three maps. Each showing the unparished area of Grantham, with 

the areas identified as urban by the Boundary Commission but currently in a parish area for 

administrative purposes. 

   

15. Three surveys were set up – one for each of the parish areas2. Each contained the following sections: 

a. An introduction. This included the purpose of the consultation, why their help was needed, 

why they have been contacted and what it would mean for their household and for the parish 

council if a decision was taken to re-draw the boundary between the parish and the new 

parish/town council of Grantham.  

 
2 Example copy of consultation document attached at Appendix 2 

26



 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

b. A question asking respondents which option they would prefer. To remain part of the parish 

they are currently part of, or to become part of the new parish/town council of Grantham.  

c. A space for respondents to detail any questions they might have 

d. A section asking respondents to supply their contact details if they wanted to be informed 

about the outcome of the second stage of the consultation or required a response to their 

question 

e. A question to capture their postcode 

f. A thank you and closing date for the consultation 

 

16. Parish Councils for the three areas identified by the Boundary Commission as being part of a 

continuous estate predominantly situated in the unparished area of Grantham, but also included 

within the boundary of a neighbouring parish; were contacted by email on 28 November at the start 

of the consultation period and informed about the consultation. They had previously also been invited 

to a Q and A session on the 18 October at which the Assistant Director of Governance and the Council’s 

Electoral Services Manager were available to answer any questions they had. Their comments and 

feedback is included in the covering report prepared by  the Assistant Director of Governance.  

 

17. The consultation closed on 19 December 2022. 85 responses were received. 17 of these were 

completed on-line. 68 respondents chose to complete the printed survey, which were input manually 

by the Council’s Consultation Officer.  

 

 

18. The overall response rate to the Community Governance Review Consultation was 22.5%. This was 

calculated by dividing the total number of responses received by the total number of 

households/individuals contacted. The response rates for each of the parish areas are detailed in the 

table below: 

Parish area    
 No of 

responses 
No of 
households 

% 

Belton & Manthorpe 24 111 21.6 

Great Gonerby 14 78 17.9 

Londonthorpe & Harrowby without 47 189 24.9 

    

Total (for all three parish areas) 85 378 22.5 

 

19. A higher number of responses and the highest proportion of responses were received from 

households in the Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without parish. Whilst this might be because there are 

more households in this area, it could also be because they received additional communication from 

their parish council, which may have encouraged them to participate.  

 

27



 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

The results  

Setting an administrative boundary between each of the three parishes and the unparished area of 

Grantham 

20. The first question respondents were asked was to specify which of the following options they would 

choose: 

a. To remain part of the parish their household belongs to currently or 

b. To join the new town/parish council of Grantham or 

c. Does not have an opinion either way 

Three quarters of respondents (64 or 75.3%) stated that they would prefer to remain part of the 

parish their household belongs to currently, as illustrated in the chart below: 

 

 

 

21. This was also the case for each of the areas. The proportion of respondents who were in favour 

varied from just over two thirds (Londonthorpe & Harrowby without) to nine out of ten (Belton & 

Manthorpe) as illustrated in the table below: 

Respondents in favour of 
remaining part of parish 

  

 No of respondents % of respondents 

Belton & Manthorpe 22 91.7 

Great Gonerby 10 71.4 

Londonthorpe & Harrowby 
without 

32 68.1 

   

Total (for all three parish 
areas) 

64 75.3 

Prefer to remain 
part of parish, 64, 

75%

Prefer to join new 
town/parish of 

Grantham, 15, 18%

Do not have an 
opinion either way, 

5, 6%

Responded but 
didn’t answer this 

question, 1, 1%

Number of respondents choosing each of the options

28



 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

 

22. The table below shows the number and proportion of respondents who would prefer to be part of 

the area covered by the new town/parish council of Grantham. Less than one in ten of the 

respondents from Belton & Manthorpe were in favour of this option, with just over one in five of the 

respondents from both Great Gonerby and Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without choosing this option: 

Respondents in favour of 
becoming part of new 
parish of Grantham 

  

 No of respondents % of respondents 

Belton & Manthorpe 2 8.3 

Great Gonerby 3 21.4 

Londonthorpe & Harrowby 
without 

10 21.3 

   

Total (for all three parish 
areas) 

15 17.6 

 

23. This table shows the number and proportion of respondents who did not have an opinion either 

way.  

Respondents who did 
not have an opinion 

  

 No of respondents % of respondents 

Belton & Manthorpe 0 0 

Great Gonerby 1 7.1 

Londonthorpe & Harrowby 
without 

4 8.5 

   

Total (for all three parish 
areas) 

5 5.9 

 

Anything else 

 

24. The second question on the survey asked respondents if they had any queries or would like to 

comment on anything that had been included within the survey.  Most of those commenting used it 

as an opportunity to provide context to their choice. Respondents supporting the proposal to stay as 

they are stressed how important it was to identify with the local area and were not keen for the 

boundary to change. Comments made included: 

“I most definitely identify with Great Gonerby. I use the Post Office. I attend the church. I 

volunteer at St Sebastian’s School…” 

“I really wish to continue to reside in Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without.” 

“Keep the boundary where it is.” 

29



 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

25. It is also likely that some households were worried about the potential cost implications of becoming 

part of the new parish/town council of Grantham, and did not want to commit to an alternative 

because they didn’t know what the costs may be as illustrated in the comments below: 

“…Furthermore, there are costs associated with a new town/ parish (council) but no information 

relating to what those costs are…”  

“If we joined the new town council of Grantham, would we pay more than we do now as part of 

Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without?” 

26. A few respondents thought there may be some merit in re-drawing the boundary, as illustrated in 

the comments below: 

“It seems to be madness to stay geographically separated from any ward we are not part of. Our 

home is a significant distance from Londonthorpe and Harrowby.” 

“The current boundary placing Pennine Way, Grampian Way, Brecon Close & Brendon Close (plus 

a couple of other houses) in Great Gonerby makes no sense, as the majority of this estate 

(Cotswold Drive, Malvern Drive etc) falls within Grantham. It is logical to have local decisions 

affecting the estate made by one authority, not two, and I therefore support joining the new 

parish/town council of Grantham.” 

A full list of comments received as part of the consultation is attached at Appendix 4. 

 

27. Respondents were then asked to supply their contact details if they wanted to be informed of the 

outcome of the second stage of the Community Governance Review, or if they had any questions 

about the process. 63 respondents supplied details so will be contacted with an update as soon as 

the next steps have been finalised and approved.  

 

About you 

Postcode 

28. Respondents were asked to specify their postcode. The purpose of this was to check that only the 

areas which could be affected by any boundary changes were represented in the consultation.  All 

but four respondents provided a full postcode. Checking the responses received against the list of 

postcodes for each of the areas revealed that responses were only received from the specific areas 

include in the consultation. 

 

Feedback from the drop-in sessions 

29. To enable households that had been contacted to ask questions or seek clarification prior to 

completion of the survey, two drop-in sessions were held during the second stage of the Community 

Governance Review consultation. These were at convenient locations - the Community Room at St 

30



 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

John’s Church Manthorpe, and the communal room at Witham Place Sheltered Housing Complex. 

Attended by the Assistant Director of Governance, the Electoral Services Manager and the 

Consultation Officer, both ran from 2pm till 7pm on consecutive days – the 7 and 8 December 2022.   

 

30. About a dozen people attended the second drop-in session – held in Witham Place on the 8 

December. Most were seeking clarification on the costs and benefits/drawbacks of becoming part of 

the new town/parish council - referencing the additional communication that had been distributed 

by Londonthorpe & Harrowby without Parish Council.  This was provided where possible.  

 

Conclusion 

31. Just under 400 households (378) were contacted and asked for their opinion on where the boundary 

should be drawn between the parish where their household is currently located and the currently 

unparished area of Grantham. 85 responses were received, a response rate of 22.5%. Of those 

responding, three quarters (64 or 75.3%) wished to remain part of the parish where their household 

is currently located for administrative purposes.  

 

32. Less than a fifth of respondents (15 or 17.6%) were in favour of the boundary being re-drawn to 
include their household in the new parish or town council for Grantham. A handful of respondents (5 
or 5.9%) did not have an opinion either way.  
 

 

33. The results of this consultation should now be used to inform the next stage of the Community 

Governance Review for Grantham.  

 

 

Prepared by Deb Wyles 

Communications and Consultation 

11 January 2023 

 

 

31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Community Governance Review Consultation  
November 2022 

Consultation with Parishes 
Free text responses 

 
 
Belton & Manthorpe  
Don't waste our public money  
All members of the household feel the same.  
At least MP will be local 

 

  Great Gonerby 

The information provided in Consultation 1 and Consultation 2 is in no way sufficient for anyone to 
make an informed decision. There are discrepancies between Parish and Ward boundaries but the 
option to move the Ward boundaries is seemingly not included within this consultation. There is no 
information (that I can find) on what the intention is for the as yet unbuilt houses on Spitalgate Heath 
or Barrowby Edge/Lodge estates. As a resident of the Great Gonerby Parish but Arnoldfield Ward we 
already have a different MP to the remainder to Grantham. Again, this narrow and limited 
consultation doesn't address that. Furthermore, there are costs associated with a new town parish, 
but no information relating to what those costs are. On the basis that the information is not sufficient; 
and whatever decision I take would still leave my household with different MP representation (and 
therefore still not wholly aligned to Grantham across all forms of Government) I can only opt for the 
status quo to remain. I welcome further consultations that may offer greater insights and information 
for residents of the Grantham area.  
Very happy with services at present. Do we really need another council?  
I most definitely identify with Great Gonerby. I use the Post Office; I attend the church. I volunteer at 
St Sebastian's School. I certainly do not support a Grantham Town Council and would not wish to be 
subject to what may be an expensive and biased layer of bureaucracy.  
The current boundary placing Pennine Way, Grampian Way, Brecon Close & Brendon Close (plus a 
couple of other houses) in Great Gonerby makes no sense, as the majority of this estate (Cotswold 
Drive, Malvern Drive etc) falls within Grantham. It is logical to have local decisions affecting the estate 
made by one authority, not two, and I therefore support joining the new parish/town council of 
Grantham. 

 

  Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without 

With only one letter/vote per household when most properties have more than one adult should it be 
one letter /vote per adult in the property. You give very little information.  
I understand that my council tax will increase by approx. £3.00 per week, other than this I cannot see 
any advantage to my household. I therefore elect to stay as I am. Thank you.  
SKDC cannot look after Grantham properly as it is. The town away from the high street and Westgate 
is filthy, a disgrace. You never seem to want to sweep the streets, I am ashamed to tell anyone I am 
from Grantham. 
If we joined the new town council of Grantham, would we pay more than we do now as part of 
Londonthorpe & Harrowby Without?  
It seems to be madness to stay geographically separated from any ward we are part of. our home is a 
significant distance from Londonthorpe and Harrowby.  
What happens regarding council tax increases? Street Lighting and Roads - who looks after them?  

33

Appendix 4



I really wish to continue to reside in the Londonthorpe and Harrowby without Parish Council  
I strongly believe Grantham needs its own special identity in the format of a town council. we must 
support local small businesses, sort our parking and small business concessions. We are strategically 
well placed on the A1, so more tourism to our town. Improve visitor experiences, markets, special 
events. Gravity Fields was very good etc.  
I am leaving Saltersford Road next week.  
Don't know what the cost is or whether Grantham will do anything for us  
As a fairly new resident I can only see the advantages of forming a new town council and the whole of 
Grantham united in that unification. Obviously, there are gains and losses as there are in any 
decisions of this nature. Grantham does need to unite to have a better future.   
Why anyone in their right mind would think my address would move and the house directly next door 
would remain in L & H without parish, is beyond me. It’s the most ridiculous bit of boundary 
drawing/deciding …… ever. In fact, at the moment it looks like my front room remains and the rest of 
the house doesn’t. Unbelievable.  

 

34



 

 

 

St. John           Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without Parish Council 

     Clerk. Mr. Peter Armstrong; 27 Belton Ave, Grantham, Lincolnshire. NG31 9JE               
The Baptist                                            Tel:  07929321426 

E-mail: londonthorpeharrowby@ntlworld.com 

           6/1/23  

           
Dear Julie, 
As the Parish council have not received the short survey/questionnaire as Stage 2 Consultation we can only 
deliver our consolidated PC view that has been shared with our parishioners who may be impacted, as follows: 
 
1. They would no longer have the same councillor representing them….there would be new elections.   
Currently they have one very active Londonthorpe and Harrowby Without Councillor living in this area.  
 
2. Their Council tax would become part of the Grantham Parish/Town Councils charges and whilst we do not 
know what the rates would be, we can only compare current rates of Grantham (£1923.75) and Londonthorpe 
and Harrowby Without (£1888.02) for a Band D property indicating potentially higher costs from being part of a 
Grantham Council.  
 
3. As the proposed Grantham Parish/Town Council would represent over 43000 people the ratio of councillor to 
population will be lower than they enjoy currently. We are aware this does not save money as Parish Councillors 
are not paid for their work and rarely claim any expenses. 
 
4. We cannot give any idea of the costs of the changes at this time. (Still SKDC have been unable to provide any 
information on this.)  The Parish Council has contracts with various suppliers and this change would obviously 
impact on those.  Any changes to contracts will likely cost additional monies, although we cannot be certain at 
this time.  
 
5. Town Councils tend to have a more political makeup than parish councils whilst ours is largely independent. 
(The discussions so far by this SKDC committee confirm this would not be the case the GTC) 
 
6. Our parish council will have to stop providing the Bridge End Grove Recreation Area, as it would be out of our 
parish. (Our equipment would be removed and used on one of our other sites.) 
 
We do not though want to see any increases in costs for any our parishioners due to this boundary change. 
Current Parishes have existed for generations and have their own character, which would be lost in a more 

remote council. Parish councillors actually live in their parishes and are an excellent contact and local voice for the 

community. Don't make this relationship more remote for our parishioners please.  

Parish Councils such as ours, own numerous assets such as play areas, nature areas etc which they would not wish 
to lose.  
 
Our overall position on this is that we are very clear we do not see any advantages to our residents in any 
proposed transfer, in fact the removal of the existing relationship with our parishioners established over many 
years would be detrimental to their interests.  
Kind Regards 
 
Pete Armstrong Clerk to the PC  -  On behalf of the Parish Councillors 
 
P A Armstrong 

 

 

35

Appendix 5



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Notes from the meeting held on 12 July 2022
	5 Community Governance Review - Consultation results with Parishes
	Appendix 1_map_unparished_area
	Appendix 2_Example consultation document
	Appendix 3_Report on results of CGR boundary consultation with parishes Nov 2022
	Appendix 4_Free text responses from respondents (parishes Nov 2022)
	Appendix 5_Response from Londonthorpe&HarrowbyWithout


